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A. Amendments to the RFP 

 
1) Exhibit C.2. – HPD Design Guidelines for Substantial Rehabilitation 

These guidelines do NOT apply to moderate rehabilitations and therefore do not 
pertain to this RFP.   
 

2) Architectural Submission for UAC Site  
The Architectural Submission for the moderate rehabilitations at the University 
Avenue Consolidation site must only consist of the following items: 

o A description of the proposed rehabilitation in the Design Narrative 
o A comprehensive scope of work including work that may be needed to 

remove existing violations  
o Estimated costs and the trade payment breakdown in the financing 

proposal   
 

3) Section III E.2. is revised as follows: 
 

2.    Eligible Homebuyers 
 
Homebuyers must agree to occupy the unit they purchase as a primary residence 
for up to fifteen (15) years following the initial purchase of the home. In the case 
of Soundview, the homebuyer of the two-family home must agree to occupy one 
unit in the building as permanent residence. In addition, any resale of the home or 
unit within fifteen (15) years following the initial purchase of the home from the 
Developer must be to buyers who will be owner-occupants.  Where subsidies are 
used to enhance Project affordability, there will be income restrictions on some or 
all of the purchasers.  Homebuyers must meet the affordability criteria set forth in 
Section III (A) (Development Site Descriptions and Property Use) of this RFP 
and proposed by the Developer in response to the RFP. 

 



4) Subordinated Debt – The following language was inadvertently omitted from 
Section III E. of the RFP, and is hereby added as Section III E. 4. 

 
In addition to a note(s) and mortgage(s) to HPD and other funding sources for any 
City, State or Federal construction and homeownership subsidies, NYCHA requires 
each homeownership unit to be sold subject to a subordinate lien in favor of the 
Authority representing the value of the Authority’s land contribution to the 
transaction. The purpose of this lien is to discourage “flipping” or realization of 
windfall profits in the event of a resale by the subsidized homebuyer during the initial 
years of occupancy. It is a separate requirement from the acquisition price to be paid 
at closing by the developer.  These liens are collectively referred to as “Subordinated 
Debt.” 

 
   Subordinated Debt is defined as: 
 

The amount equal to the sum of: 
1) the difference between the acquisition price payable to NYCHA at 

closing for the homeownership portion of the development site and the 
appraised value of the homeownership portion of the unimproved 
development site; plus 

2) the aggregate amount of any City, State, or Federal construction 
subsidies for the construction of the homes less the amount required to 
be repaid from proceeds from the sale of the homes; plus 

3) any appreciation of home value at the time of purchase by the 
homebuyer as represented by the difference between the home sales 
price and the as-built market value of the site and improvements.  

 
Resale, Refinancing and Recapture Restrictions 

 
The Subordinated Debt assumed by the developer at conveyance will be converted 
into an obligation on the purchasers who acquire the homes.   
 
The Subordinated Debt will be apportioned pro rata to each home and may be 
unsecured at the time of sale based on the home’s post-construction appraised 
value.  Purchasers repay the Debt attributable to their homes by delivering a 
note(s) and mortgage(s) and/or conditional grant agreement(s) to HPD and 
NYCHA, as appropriate.  The Subordinated Debt, with the exception of State and 
Federal subsidies, in the sum evidenced by the note(s) and secured by the 
mortgage(s), remains constant for the first 5 years of a 15-year period and declines 
by 1/10th in years six (6) through fifteen (15), but will be forgiven after the 15th 
year of owner occupancy. The use and recapture of any State and Federal funds 
subsidizing the Site will be guided by the specific State and Federal program 
requirements for such funds. 
 
Upon resale or refinancing, initial purchasers and subsequent owners are required 
to make payments to HPD and NYCHA out of resale profits and refinancing 



proceeds, where applicable. During years 1 to 5, 100% of the resale or refinancing 
profits from the sale of the home must be paid up to the amount of the 
Subordinated Debt.  During years 6 through 15, 50% of the resale or refinancing 
profits must be paid up to the amount of the outstanding Subordinated Debt.   

 
 
 
B. Questions and Answers 

 
General 
 
1. If a developer applies for multiple sites, should a separate binder be 

submitted for each site? 
 

Yes, separate binders are required for each site. 
 

2. Is ULURP or another public review process required for any of the sites? 
 

ULURP is not required on these sites.  The only zoning action which may be 
required is at Soundview.  See page 7 of the RFP for details. 
 
NYCHA is coordinating the Section 18 disposition process which is required 
by HUD.  See “Disposition” on page 11 of the RFP for details.  Public 
outreach requirements are described in Section III. B. (Obligations of the 
Selected Developer) of the RFP. 

 
3. Do all sites currently have sewer and water service? 
 

Survey maps with details on existing infrastructure are included as part of this 
addendum.  The maps provided in Exhibit A of the RFP also include some 
detail. 

 
4. Are there minimum square footage requirements for new units? 

 
Minimum room size requirements for new units are given in Exhibits C.1. 
(HPD Design Guidelines for New Construction).  Lenders may also have their 
own unit size requirements. 
 

5. Is a Resident Service Plan required for each site? 
 

Yes. See page 11 of the RFP for more information. 
 



6. Is there a chance that HUD won’t approve the disposition of any of the 
sites? 

 
NYCHA has successfully completed the Section 18 process for four previous 
sites in New York City and anticipates the same result for these sites.  
NYCHA has already begun the Section 18 process on these sites, including 
extensive outreach to public officials and tenants. 

 
7. For the NYCHA preference units, can we assume that tenants would have 

Section 8 vouchers for underwriting purposes?  
 

Applicants may assume receipt of FMR rents on the Section 8 units, but that 
lenders will require the units to be underwritten at Tax Credit rents (60% 
AMI). 
 

8. Will there be an allocation of project-based Section 8 vouchers for any of 
the sites? 

 
No, these will be tenant based vouchers from NYCHA. 

 
9. Will tenants with Section 8 vouchers be in possession of the vouchers at 

the time they move in? 
 

Yes. 
 
10. If a tenant with a Section 8 voucher moves out of a unit, is it required that 

the next tenant also possess a NYCHA-provided Section 8 voucher?  
 

No, though the owner, at their option, may ask NYCHA to refer another 
tenant with voucher. The re-rental process is described on page 12 of the RFP. 

 
11. When will survey drawings be available? 
 

They are included in this addendum. 
 

12. Will the designated developer be responsible for the cost of the site’s 
Phase I environmental report?  

 
Yes.  See Page 17 of the RFP, Section M: Environmental Review 
Requirements.   

 
13. If the zoning on any of the new construction sites allows us to construct 

more than the total units specified in the RFP, should we propose the 
higher number of units and base our budget projections on this higher 
number? 

 



Applicants may propose up to 10 percent more units than what is stated in the 
RFP for new construction sites, yet Applicants are expected to submit 
proposals which meet as-of-right zoning.  At Soundview, HPD and NYCHA 
will assist the Developer in obtaining any necessary approvals related to 
achieving a building height of up to eight (8) stories or a maximum of eighty 
(80) feet.  
 
Financing proposals should reflect the number of units actually proposed by 
the Applicant. 

 
14. Competitive Selection Criteria “I. Least Subsidy” states that “Proposals 

that require the least City subsidy will be ranked higher.” Does “City 
subsidy” also include State subsidy? 

 
No, this refers only to City subsidy.  

 
15. In the competitive scoring process, do HPD & NYCHA prefer a low 

subsidy request more than deeper affordability of the units? 
 

Both affordability and subsidy are given weight in the competitive scoring.   
Affordability preferences for each site are described in Section III.A. of the 
RFP. 

 
16. Will applicants be able to apply for low income housing tax credits 

through HPD's annual application process? 
 

Applicants interested in applying for 9% competitive low income housing tax 
credits through HPD should familiarize themselves with the threshold criteria 
for that program.  The HPD tax credit award process is independent of this 
RFP process.   
 
As explained on page 14 of the RFP: “Any proposal that assumes competitive 
financing must submit an alternate scenario using non-competitive financing 
sources, and must provide appropriate letters of interest from the alternate 
sources.”    
 

17. In rental buildings, 60% of the total project must be at or below 60% of 
AMI.  Is this by total units in project site or by building? 

 
60% of all units refers to total units at the site, not units per building.  The 
RFP further stipulates that for the remaining units, preference will be given to 
those Applicants who provide a greater mix of income levels at one or more 
additional affordability tiers above 60% AMI.  In the case of rental buildings 
at Highbridge and Soundview, preference will be given to proposals that 
achieve a mix of incomes within individual buildings.   

 



18. Can one entity be part of multiple development teams that submit 
proposals for the same site? 

 
This is only permitted if the entity does not have an ownership stake in 
multiple development teams. 

 
University Avenue Consolidation 
 

19. Can NYCHA provide details of the leases for the three commercial 
tenants at UAC? 

 
This information is provided in the RFP in Exhibit B: “Commercial Tenants 
Information-1601 University Avenue”. 

 
20. How did NYCHA decide on the phasing of the UAC buildings? 

 
This determination was based on the occupancy levels at the respective 
buildings. 

 
21. Is the current property manager for the UAC buildings permitted to be 

on a development team that submits a proposal? 
 

Yes.   
 

22. Does the building on Popham Avenue at UAC (to be converted to an 
affordable cooperative or condominium building) require gut or 
moderate rehabilitation? Will HPD & NYCHA accept a submission for 
the UAC buildings that proposes substantial rehabilitation of the units? 
Will buildings be required to be fully sprinklered?  

 
The UAC buildings require moderate rehabilitation with no (or minimal) 
change in layouts.  Proposals that propose gut rehabilitations must justify this 
choice.   
 
Local Law 10/99 requires all new multiple dwellings be sprinkled entirely.  
The law is only retroactive to existing buildings if the cost of the alteration in 
a twelve month period exceeds fifty percent of the aggregate value of the 
building.   
 

23. Are there lead-based paint or asbestos tests available for the UAC 
buildings? 

 
This topic is being researched and any relevant information will be made 
available at a later date. 
 



24. What is the expectation for the Architectural Submission (Tab I ) for the 
UAC moderate rehabilitations?  Does it differ from what is required for a 
new construction Architectural Submission?  

 
The architectural submission (Tab I) for the UAC buildings does not require 
the same level of detail as a new construction architectural submission.  At a 
minimum, the following is required for UAC: 

o A description of the proposed rehabilitation in the Design Narrative 
o A comprehensive scope of work including work that may be needed to 

remove existing violations  
o Include estimated costs and the trade payment breakdown in the 

financing proposal 
 
Please note that, contrary to the statement in Section III. J. of the RFP, the 
HPD Design Guidelines for Substantial Rehabilitation (Exhibit C.2) do not 
apply to moderate rehabilitations. 
 

25. Do you have the unit distribution or a typical floor plan for the building 
at 120 West 176th Street?  It looks as though it’s on the same lot as 1665 
Andrews, but it’s a separate building, right? 

 
Drawings for 120 West 176th Street (which is the same as 1695 Andrews 
Avenue) have been attached as part of this addendum.  1665 Andrews Avenue 
is a different building.  

 
26. Please provide confirmation on the unit count and bedroom distribution 

for each of the buildings included in the UAC site.   
 

     Address 
     

Block Lot 
Total 
Units 

0 
BR 

1 
BR 

2 
BR 

3 
BR

4 
BR Phase 

74 WEST 174TH STREET 2876 25 26 0 11 4 9 2 I 
1472 MONTGOMERY AVENUE 2878 5 40 0 11 20 9 0 I 
1705 ANDREWS AVENUE SOUTH 2878 169 66 0 6 33 22 5 I 
1473 POPHAM AVENUE 2877 202 41 0 6 34 1 0 I 
1475 POPHAM AVENUE 2877 202 28 0 1 20 6 1 I 
1660 ANDREWS AVENUE 2878 83 59 0 15 43 1 0 I 
135 WEST 175TH STREET 2878 23 39 0 10 13 10 6 I 

65 FEATHERBED LANE 2876 31 31 0 5 10 11 5 II 
120 WEST 176TH STREET 2878 44 38 0 0 13 20 5 II 

1665 ANDREWS AVENUE 2878 44 59 0 18 34 6 1 II 
1601 UNIVERSITY AVENUE 2878 1 36 0 9 23 4 0 II 
   Total 463 0 92 247 99 25  

 



Soundview 
 

27. Would the designated developer work directly with the Department of 
Transportation on constructing the extension of Bronx River Avenue?  
How much information on the design of the street will developers need to 
submit in their proposals? 

 
The selected Developer will work directly with NYC Department’s of 
Transportation (DOT), Buildings (DOB) and Environmental Protection (DEP) 
while continuing to coordinate with NYCHA and HPD.  Applicants must 
provide their own estimate of the road construction cost in the Trade Payment 
Breakdown (Form 7.8) of their Financing Proposal.  The approximate length 
of the road is 1,400 feet (instead of 1,300 as indicated in Section III.A.3. of 
the RFP). The estimated width of the road remains at 80 feet.  For further 
information, see the Alteration Map and Record Map which have been 
attached as part of this addendum. 
 

28. Is the cost of road construction at Soundview an eligible expense for the 
use of LAMP and MIRP funds? 

 
For the purposes of this proposal, Applicants should assume that neither 
LAMP nor MIRP funds may be used towards the cost of road construction.  
This cost must be separately financed, for example with developer equity. 

 
Highbridge 
 

29. At the Highbridge site, will NYCHA grant construction and/or 
permanent access to the new development from their interior roadway at 
the top of the hill at the north end of the current Highbridge Garden 
complex? Alternatively, does NYCHA intend for the new development to 
be accessed from Sedgewick Avenue or West 167th Street? 

 
The interior roadway cannot be used for access during construction nor for 
permanent access to the development.  Applicants should propose how the 
new development will be accessed based on the site plans provided. 
 
 



C. List of maps available for download 
Go to: http://www.nyc.gov/html/hpd/html/developers/rfp.shtml 
 
Please note that some maps may appear with additional lines in some older versions of 
Adobe Acrobat.  Nonetheless, the maps will print correctly. 
 
Forest Maps 

o General Site Plan 
o Net Area Map 
o Electric Site Plan 
o Heating Site Plan 
o Plumbing Site Plan – New and Existing Utilities 

 
Highbridge Maps 

o General Site Plan 
o Building Location Plan 
o Net Area Map 
o Composite Utility Site Plan 1 
o Composite Utility Site Plan 2 
o Electric Utility Site Plan 
o Heating Site Utility Plan 
o Plumbing Site Utility Plan 

 
Soundview Maps 

o General Site Plan 
o Detailed Site Plan 
o Net Area Map 
o Electric Site Plan 
o Heating Site Plan 
o Plumbing Site Plan 
o Plumbing Utilities Plan 
o Alteration Map 
o Record Map 
 

UAC Maps 
o Revision: Floor plans with addresses labeled 
o 120 West 176th Street (aka 1695 Andrews Avenue) –floor plans 
o Unit types per building 

 















Affordable Housing for the Bronx RFP
Attendees at 9/24 RFP Pre-submission Conference
Name Organization E-mail Phone
John Ellis Domenech Hicks  Krockmalnic jellis@dhkinc.com 646-345-2888
Gary Rodney Omni New York LLC grodney@onyllc.com 646-502-7202
Michael Sturmer lemle  wolff msturmer@lemlewolff.com 718-865-1862
Ira Mitchneck Dattner Architects imitchneck@dattner.com 212-247-2660
Ben Upshaw CB Emmanuel cbemmaunel@verizon.net
rella fogliano macquesten development llc r_fogliano@macquesten.com 914-667-7227
Chris Bramwell CB Emmanuel cbramwell@shindamgmtcorp.com 347-534-3214
Norm Hinsey CSA Group nhinsey@csagroup.com 212-677-0776
Isaac Henerson CPC Resouces ihenderson@communityp.com 212-869-5300
Larry Hirschfield ELH Mgmt LLC larry@elhmgmt.com 718-855-5620 ext 11
John Waters John Waters Consulting agua2369@hotmail.com 917-763-4247
luis acosta nys dhcr Lacosta@dhcr.state.ny.us 212-480-7187
Alex Alexandrov SKA Marin aalexandrov@skamarin.com 516-466-9581
Meaghan Shannon Monadnock Construction Inc mvlkovic@optonline.net 718-825-8160
Rita Ann Wyatt Wyatt  Co wyattco@aol.com 914-273-5103
Howard Chynsky HAKS Engineers, Architects, CM, Surveyors hchynsky@haks.net 212-747-1997 ext 523
Avery Seavey Blue Sea Development Company pom99@aol.com 212-532-0333
David Goodrid dgoodrid@gmail.com 917-327-2021
Madeleine Harmann POKO Partners mjh@pokomgt.com 914-937-5152
Carl Duncan Annandale Contracting Inc xpertbldr@aol.com 718-624-5619
Antonio Mirabal CSA Group amirabal@csagroup.com 212-388-8827
Anthony Frasciello SKA Marin afrasciello@skamarin.com 516-466-9581
Anton Mourtil Anton Developers developers.anton@gmail.com 516-482-3289
Barbara (?) ABS Architects barbara@absarchitectsnyc.com 212-625-8476
Jerome Kretchmer Kretchmer jkretchmer@aol.com 212-465-8448




